IN	THE SUPREME	COURT OF	SID J. WARKING
JAMES DOUGLAS HILL,		:	CLERK CUMMENNE COURT
Appellant,		:	By Civer Deputy Art
v.		: CASI	E NO
STATE OF FLORIDA,		:	65223
Appellee.		:	
		-	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from Denial of Motion to Vacate by the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Hillsborough County.

> B. V. DANNHEISSER, III. 527 South Washington Boulevard Sarasota, Florida 33577 (813) 953-3000

> MICHAEL J. ECHEVARRIA 412 Madison Street, Suite 1207 Tampa, Florida (813) 223-7619

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

• "

_ ¥

~ *

JAMES DO	UGLAS HILL, :	
	Appellant,	
v.	:	CASE NO
STATE OF	FLORIDA,	77-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts introduced at trial are accurately described by the Florida Supreme Court. Additional facts introduced at the 3.850 hearing but not at the trial due to the ineffective assistance of counsel are contained in the footnotes:

The facts show that on June 25, 1980, authorities retrieved the dead body of twelve-year-old Rosa Lee Parker from an area known as the "Pits" in Hillsborough County. The body lay partially exposed in a shallow grave, covered with mud and hyacinths, and was clothed only in a brassiere pulled up over the breasts. The medical examiner determined the cause of death to be mechanical aspyhxiation. The state charged twenty-two-year-old appellant with first degree murder. The testimony at trial revealed that on the afternoon of June 23, the victim, appellant, young Tina and Tammy Deal, and Russell Jackson went skating. Afterwards, they returned to the Deals' home. Later in the evening, Rosa Lee asked Tammy Deal to accompany her to a nearby schoolyard to play, but Tammy's mother would not permit it. Rosa Lee then left alone, headed toward the school. This was the last time anyone saw Rosa Lee alive.

^{1/} Initially, the medical examiner listed the cause of death as "unknown." The deposition of Dr. Edward Willie, a pathologist, shows that he was prepared to testify at the 3.850 hearing that the cause of death could not be determined. The trial attorney never investigated the cause of death by hiring his own pathologist (RAPC-95), or cross-examined the pathologist as to his prior inconsistent statements.

Russell Jackson testified that on the same evening appellant asked him if he wanted to help rape Rosa Lee, and, if he did, appellant would take her somewhere afterwards and "get rid of her."² Another of appellant's friends, Daniel Munson, testified that, early in the evening of the murder, appellant

 $^{2}/$ Although only nineteen years old, Jackson had a substantial criminal history (RAPC-539-745 at Q-2). Jackson gave two reports to the police on June 24 and 25 where he did not report any such statements (Id. at R-2,3,4).At that time, Jackson said he was in the woods with appellant's brother and David Munson and they encountered four or five men huddled in a group. One man said "hurry, I'm getting blood all over me." On April 26, Jackson was arrested for burglary. He was on probation for other crimes. At that time, he was granted immunity for the homicide, and the police dropped the burglary and grand larceny charges. He was also given probation on another pending charge (Id. at R-1). Jackson then told them of appellant's supposed statement. None of this was introduced at trial, despite the fact that it was all a matter of public record. This was proffered in the 3.850 hearing to show ineffective assistance of counsel (Id. at Q-R).

After trial, but before sentencing, Jackson told Robert Moye, an ex-employer of his father, that Hill "did not kill the girl, but I know who did. James was framed . . . But if I tell who did it, then they would put me away." (Id. at S-1.) Moye told this to defense counsel (Id). Shortly thereafter, Jackson also told Venessa Childs that "if I had to do it all over again, I would tell the truth." (Id. at S-2.) He said that he didn't tell the truth because he didn't want to go to prison. Although the 3.850 judge would not allow Moye or Childs to testify, their affidavits were proffered. Despite the fact that Moye told this to trial counsel before appellant was sentenced (Id. at S-1), no motion for a new trial was made.

came to his house on his motorcycle, accompanied by a female whom Munson could not identify. Munson would not let appellant enter his home, and appellant and the female departed. Munson further testified that appellant returned to his home alone about midnight, said that "he had the nerve to hurt someone," and took Munson to see Rosa Lee Parker's dead body (according to Munson). While viewing the body, appellant boasted, "she wouldn't give it up, so I had to take it."⁴

- 3/ Munson testified that he was not sure if the female was white or black, and he said she was wearing long pants (RDA-308). The victim was wearing short pants on the day of the crime (RDA-254, 367). He also said in the police report that he had never seen this female before, yet he knew the victim, according to Tina Deal and the deposition of Thomas Gaskin (RAPC-539-784 at L-4; RAPC-1239). Gaskin was told by Munson that if Gaskin testified about Munson and the victim, Munson would "do him like he did Rosa," (RAPC-1245), "kill him," (RAPC-1240-41), and "stab [Gaskin] with a needle." (RAPC-1242.) (Munson had been seen using narcotics. RAPC-539-754 at P-1.) Affidavit of Vellesco (RAPC-539-754 at P-4). None of this was brought out at trial due to the ineffective assistance of counsel, despite the fact that Gaskin's deposition had been taken.
- Like Jackson, Munson has a criminal background (RAPC-539-745 at N-2). Initially, Munson gave the same account as Jackson, saying that they were walking in the woods and encountered four or five men. At the time, Munson was on parole for armed robbery (Id. atN3). He was arrested for burglary and parole violation (Id.). Appellant was arrested on unrelated charges, which were later dropped, and placed in the same cell with Munson (Id. at 0-1). The next morning, Munson went to the police. The report shows:

Prior to this interview, Mr. Munson refused to cooperate with the investigators assigned to this homicide. Mr. Munson, at this point and time, indicated to the writer he was concerned about having his parole revoked, due to the fact that he had knowledge (only) of a homicide.

Munson was then granted immunity for his testimony and the charges were dropped (\underline{Id} at N-2). Other than this fact, none of the above was introduced at trial. Moreover, at this deposition, Munson testified:

Q: On your previous statement, you told Detective Gibson, "Well, I've never seen James wearing sunglasses before, I don't know if those are -- I'm not postively sure if those are his or that those are the ones . . I found there.' In the initial investigation, Munson related this information to the police.⁵ They persuaded him to go to appellant's home wire with electronic surveillance equipment for the purpose of eliciting incriminating statements from appellant. Munson agreed to do so after authorities promised to drop a pending burglary charge against him, drop pending parole violation charges, and not to charge him with accessory after the fact for the instant murder. Munson went to appellant's home, persuaded appellant to accompany him into the backyard, and there obtained statements in which appellant admitted committing the murder.⁷ Munson testified concerning those statements at trial and the state introduced, over objection, both the police

4/ (cont'd)

- A: Well, there's a lot of things I told those detectives. They were putting so much pressure on me --
- Q: I can imagine.
- A: -- that I said a lot of things that weren't right.

Also, Munson supposedly found sunglasses (RDA-370) at the crime scene which were introduced into evidence. Persons who knew appellant say that he never owned sunglasses (RAPC-539-745) at L-2, 4, 5). Further, Winston and Carlton cigarette butts were found near the body (RDA-872). Munson smoked Winstons and appellent smoked Marlboros (RDA-617). None of this was brought out at the trial.

⁵/ Munson's initial statement to the police was contradicted by him at trial in countless ways. None of this was raised by trial counsel. The police reports are in the appendix hereto.

⁶ / The deposition of Dr. Arthur Norman, proffered at the 3.850 hearing showed that appellant "can say anything to anybody at any given moment and it has minimal validity." Deposition at 33 (RAPC-289-350). Norman says it is consistent with appellant's mental retardation that he would admit to a crime he did not commit.

recording of the conversation and the testimony of the officers who overheard the conversation by way of the surveillance equipment.

6/ (cont'd) Norman's statement, also proffered, says:

James Hill is a simple, passive, dependent young man who is extremely niave, childlike, and very easily led by others. He desperately wants approval, to be seen as important and as a "big men." Thus, he has a very strong tendency to want to please others by agreeing with what they ask of him or say to him. (RAPC-539-745 at F-1.)

Dr. Harry Krop points out similar matters (RAPC-534-36)

Current testing reveals that Mr. Hill is functioning intellectually in the Mild range of Mental Retardation. On the WAIS-R, he earned a Verbal I.Q. of 68, a Performance I.Q. of 67 and a Full Scale I.Q. of 66. These results appear to be a valid estimate of his maximun effort on all tasks. These results are consistent with previous testing conducted a year ago by Dr. Norman and indicate that Mr. Hill is functioning intellectually in the lowest percentile (i.e. 99% of the American population of similar age exceed his scores).

Neuropsychological screen supports a diagnosis of organic brain damage which is primarily manifested in deficits of memory, reasoning and conceptualization. The results of the WMS indicate a Memory quotient of 48 (average=100), a score even lower than that expected from an individual with Mr. Hill's I.Q. He was unable to recall any details from two simple stories read to him ninety minutes earlier, indicating a significant memory dificit, Particularly for verbally presented material. His presentation of his history supports these deficits as he was unable to provide accurate information concerning events in his past.

Personality assessment depicts Mr. Hill as an extremely niave, socially immature, young man with a high need for approval. This desperate need causes him to be extremely dependent on others and easily influenced. Because of Mr. Hill's early academic failures and peer ridicule (primarily due to a speech impediment), he has an impaired self-concept and thus tends to be extremely non-assertive (Assertiveness Quotient=23/100)

6/ in his attempts at problem solving. Mr. Hill's (cont'd) responses to the Hand Test and Prescott suggest no evidence of aggressive tendencies or sexually deviant behavior. There is no data to support any sociopathic tendencies, as Mr. Hill is capable of experiencing guilt, remorse and embarrassment.

> If, indeed, Mr. Hill were involved in aggressive behavior, it would likely be under the substantial influence or domination of another person, or possibly a manifestation of a psychomotor epileptic seizure.

Current testing shows that Mr. Hill's recall capacity is inaccurate for events occurring from ninety minutes to twenty-four hours in the past. It is even more significantly impaired for events and details occurring more remotely. Thus, it is highly unlikely that Mr. Hill possessed the capacity to testify relevantly at the time of his trial or to adequately assist his attorney in all phases of the defense preparation.

Appellant's two teachers of his class for mentally retarded children confirmed this. They said he was very child-like, that other kids took advantage of him, that he was frequently unjustly accused of wrongdoing and tht he did not have the mental ability to stand up and defend himself when unjustly accused. Deposition of Scott Anderson at 8-9, 6-10; Deposition of Felicia Williams at 8-17. (RAPC-191-233.) Williams further stated that appellant did not have the mental capacity to plan a murder. Moreover, Williams testified:

- Q: Did you ever note a behavior pattern in James where he would acknowledge yes to things of which he has no knowledge?
- A: That was usually the case when he was brought back to the room. You are asking well, why did he say this or why did he -- why didn't he admit to something. I don't know. Why did he say this. Yes. Did you say this? Yes. By the time you found out the facts, you found out that his yesses were just a matter of being able to say something which is characteristic of mentally retarded, some mentally retarded students.
- Q: Did you ever find that after James would answer yes and you would explore his knowledge, that he really had no knowledge of what he was --

6/ (cont'd) Α:

This is what I am saying. After you found out so many yeses and then after you found out through his smiles and yeses and shrugging his shoulders that he was not the problem he was just the person that someone else was easy to point to and say he did it. Everyone knew that he couldn't talk plainly or express himself well. He was an easy scapegoat.

Due to the ineffective assistance of counsel, none of this was raised at trial.

A motion for post conviction relief, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim. P. 3.850, was then filed below.

A variety of legal challenges were raised in the Motion. The evidence presented to the court in support of the Motion related primarily to issues enumerated at the outset of this brief dealing with James Hill's incompetence to stand trial prior to or during trial and the ineffective representation rendered by his trial counsel.

Hill was represented at trial by Mr. Ronald Young. Young testified before the court on April 19, 1984. Counsel testified that prior to representing James Hill, he had never participated, in any fashion, in the defense of a capital murder case (RAPC-13). He also testified that he failed to associate another attorney to aid and assist him in preparation of trial (RAPC-13). Appellant offered into evidence a sworn affidavit by Corporal Larry G. Young of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office (RAPC-539-745, Section J). Corporal Young's affidavit shows that Hill was incarcerated at the Hillsborough County Jail from June 1980

to March 1981 and that the records at the County Jail show that attorney Young visited Hill on only one date, October 11, 1980. The Corporal stated that "there were no other visits on record to inmate Hill from an attorney between June 1980 and March 1981."

_ s

The trial court refused to accept the forestalled affidavit notwithstanding the fact that attorney Young testified that he met with Hill at "various times during my representation," although he did not "recall the total number of times," (RAPC-98).

Ronald Young admitted that he had been advised that James Hill had been classified as mentally handicapped and placed in a special class in Hillsborough County for persons who are

19 1 B . De

mentally retarded. He further admitted that he had been advised that Hill suffered from epilepsy. However, Young stated that, although he had been put on notice that Hill suffered from a mental disability, he failed to ever consult any school records, medical records, or education or medical personnel for purposes of investigating Hill's mental status or for purposes of developing a mitigation presentation at sentencing (RAPC-91, 92).

Counsel testified that he did not have money to hire experts to assist him in his defense. However, he admitted that the court had adjudicated Hill partially indigent for purposes of costs to allow him to hire experts (RAPC-93). Throughout his testimony, he evidenced the fact that he did not understand that an adjudication of indigency for purposes of costs provided funds to obtain expert assistance. The evidence was so obvious that the trial court inquired (RAPC-93, 94) as to how counsel could allege both the lack of monies to hire experts and the fact that the court had adjudicated Hill partially indigent for costs.

Numerous issues were of concern during trial counsel's testimony. However, the most critical omissions from trial counsel's preparation were believed to be his failure to investigate the availability of mitigating evidence for presentation during sentencing.

Counsel inquired of attorney Young pertaining to the

competency issue. Young clearly evidenced the fact that he did not understand the distinction between determination of competency and determination of sanity pursuant to the McNaughton Rule.

. .

Young initially stated tht he resolved the issue of appellant's sanity by interviewing his client and the client's family. He states that, from these interviews, he was able to determine that James Hill knew right from wrong and therefore eliminate the possibility of an insanity defense. This determination was made solely by Young without the assistance of experts from any mental healthcare discipline (RAPC-90).

When initially questioned as to Hill's ability to assist him in preparation of a defense, Young testified that Hill was able to communicate with him and assist him in preparation of the defense to a degree (RAPC-96,97). At that time, appellant offered into evidence a sworn affidavit that had been signed by attorney Young on July 1, 1983, where Young swore that "due to the defendant's limited communication skills, he was not able to fully assist me in preparation for trial," (RAPC_ 537-538). Young subsequently admitted that Hill would have "a hard time" effectively challenging prosecution witnesses or assisting Young in Hill's defense (RAPC-109).

Young was, on several occassions, asked to state whether he invistigated the issue of competency on behalf of his client. He stated that he failed to retain a psychiatrist or psychologist (RAPC-95). He testified that he was aware that James is "relatively on the lower end of of the intelligence scale," (RAPC-97). He stated that James was not able to fully assist

him in preparation for trial (RAPC-99). Discussing the issue of competency, counsel stated, "when you are discussing competency, obviously you are discussing various aspects of competency. Number 1, the basic insanity, whether or not the person under the <u>McNaughton</u> Rule knows right from wrong, very basic. Does he know right from wrong, that he is incompetent to stand trial. . . Then you have other areas as far as competency to stand trial. The areas of ability to assist counsel, ability to aid consel in preparation of defense, ability to realistically challenge prosecution witnesses and have the defendant advise you." (RAPC-107, 10&)

Counsel was then asked whether it was his testimony that "as far as evaluation of his [Hill's] competence," Hill had difficulty in effectively challenging witnesses, "but he knew right from wrong." Counsel then answered "that is essentially it." (RAPC-110)

He has admitted, in cross examination by Assistant State Attorney Ober, that Hill had limited ability to communicate with him as to the reliability or credibility of witnesses (RAPC-146). However, Young repeatedly made it clear to the court that his determination of appellant's competency was based on the fact that appellant knew right from wrong as evidenced by his statement that "obviously, you are saying as far as right from wrong, competency questions whether he knows right from wrong, and if not, then obviously he is not competent to stand trial." (RAPC-108).

Young testified that he utilized the investigative assistance of private investigator Tek Marciniak to handle pre-trial investigation and to assist throughout the trial. Marciniak testified during the hearing on The Motion.

Marciniak testified that he was experienced as a law enforcement homicide investigator and private investigator (RAPC-145). He further testified that any investigation that was performed was performed by him (RAPC-149.

The investigator stated that Hill was unable to assist him preparing investigation and a defense in "a normal manner," (RAPC-130). He could not, for example, relate concepts of time as he was unable to distinguish between three weeks and three months (RAPC-130). Marciniak stated that he had difficulty in "extracting sufficient information from him [Hill] to go out there and do an investigation," (RAPC-134.

The investigator further explained (RAPC-138), before being cut off by the trial court, that Hill appeared to suffer from mental disabilities and stated that he had notified attorney Young of same.

Even though Young was by now supplied with this data plus the knowledge that Hill was retarded and epileptic, no follow-up was executed. Young's only response to this information was to "talk" with Marciniak about the possibility of an insanity defense. At no time did they (Young or Marciniak) investigate whether Hill was competent to stand trial (RAPC-138).

The investigator was also concerned that appellant acted inappropriately during trial. He recalled that Hill did not appear to be "involved in the proceedings" and <u>did</u> <u>not appear</u> "to be aware of what was going on." Instead appellant just stared into space (RAPC-140).

. .

. .

When asked whether appellant's inability to communicate damaged his ability to prepare and investigate a defense, Marciniak responded affirmatively (RAPC-14]). He stated that "of all the people I have interviewed . . . he [Hill] is way down on the list of being able to give pertinent, clear information."

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