IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES DOUGLAS HILL,

Appellant,

v.

case no. 65223

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 27 1984
CLERK SUPERING COMME

CLERK SUPPLEME COUPRIL

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

THEDA JAMES DAVIS
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

/tms

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is on appeal from an order denying James Douglas Hill's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief brought pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The Circuit Court, Hills-borough County, Judge Harry Lee Coe, presiding. The parties in this brief will be referred to by their proper names or as they stand before this court. The symbol "R" will be used when referring to the record on appeal, case number 60,144. The symbol "RR" will be used when referring to the record on appeal presently before this court in case number ______. All emphasis has been supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, James Douglas Hill, was convicted of first degree murder and, in accordance with the jury's recommendation, was sentenced to death. This Court affirmed the judgment and sentence on July 15, 1982. Hill v. State, 422 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1982). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on February 28, 1983. Hill v. Florida, __ U.S. __, 103 S.Ct. 1262, 75 L.Ed.2d 488 (1983).

On July 1, 1983, appellant filed in the trial court a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850. The State filed a response on August 10, 1983. While the motion was pending before the Circuit Court, the Governor signed a Death Warrant on April 12, 1984, ordering the execution of Hill between noon, Thursday the 3rd of May, 1984, and noon, Thursday the 10th of May, 1984. Execution is presently set for Wednesday, May 9th at 7:00 a.m..

Also on April 12th, the State filed with the trial court a Motion to Expedite proceedings and the case was set for hearing before Judge Harry Lee Coe on April 17, 1984. At that hearing the defense filed an Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief and a Motion for Stay of Execution. A hearing was held on defendant's Motion on April 19, 1984. On April 24, 1984, the trial court heard legal argument and the motion was denied. A stay of execution was also denied and these proceedings ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Direct Appeal

The facts of this case are set forth in this Court's decision at 422 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1982). References to the record on direct appeal will be made whenever it becomes necessary to supplement these facts.

The record reflects that on the afternoon of June 23, 1980, the appellant asked his cousin, Russell Jackson, if he wanted to help rape the victim, Rosa Lee Parker, and, if he did, appellant would take her somewhere afterwards and "get rid of her". One of appellant's friends, Daniel Munson, testified that on midnight of the same day appellant took Munson to Rosa Lee's dead body. While viewing the body, appellant boasted, "She wouldn't give it up, so I had to take it".

Munson related this information to police who persuaded him to go to the appellant's home wired with electronic surveillance equipment for the purpose of eliciting incriminating statements from the appellant. Munson agreed to do so in exchange for certain promises. Thereafter, he went to Hill's home, asked appellant to accompany him into the backyard, and there obtained statements in which appellant admitted committing the murder. Munson testified concerning those statements at trial and the state introduced, over objection, both the recording of the conversation and the testimony of the officers who overheard it.

Appellant took the stand in his own behalf and testified that he was at home asleep on the living room floor when the murder

occurred. (R 593) Arnel Perkins and Gary Hill, the defendant's brother, testified consistent with this alibi defense. (R 546, 578) Arnel and Gary further testified that they saw Daniel Munson leaving the area where the body was found. (R 546, 578)

When questioned regarding the incrminating statements made to Daniel Munson, Hill testified that he was simply repeating facts told to him by the investigating officer, Ted Gibson. (R 609, 611, 612, 613, 614, 616, 619, 626, 627) Officer Gibson testified on rebuttal that he did not tell Hill the circumstances surrounding the murder during their interviews. (R 632)

Post Conviction Proceedings

Appellant filed in the trial court a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (RR. 12 - 33) A hearing was held on that motion on April 19, 1984. The trial court heard the testimony of Hill's attorney, Ronald Young. Young testified that although Hill had limited communication skills, he was able to relate the circumstances surrounding the offense and disclosed pertinent facts relevant thereto. (RR. 96, 102, 113 - 117, 123) Young testified further that Hill furnished him with an alibi defense, did not exhibit any irrational conduct, and commented during trial on the testimony of prosecution witnesses. (RR, 115, 116, 117, 123)

The court also heard testimony from Tek Marciniak, Hill's

court-appointed private investigator used to assist the defendant at the time of trial. Marciniak testified that Hill had difficulty "relating time" and as a result he was unable to relate sufficient information to assist in the investigation of his case. (RR. 129, 130, 370)

Hill's principal witness was Dr. Arthur Norman who testified by deposition. Norman examined Hill on April 28, 1983, nearly three years after trial. (RR. 593 - 608) Dr. Norman's conclusion that Hill was incompetent at the time of trial is based, in part, on the reports of M.W. Pike, a Classification Specialist and Psychologist, Robert Moore. (RR. 303)

Mr. Pike interviewed Hill on March 30, 1981, four months after trial. (RR. 578) Although the report indicates that Hill seemed to be unsure of the purpose of the interview, it was also noted that Hill continued to maintain his innocence and attempted to shift the blame to Danny Munson and his cousin Russell Jackson.

Psychologist Robert Moore evaluated Hill three months after trial on February 27, 1981. (RR. 575 - 576) Contrary to Dr. Norman's testimony, Moore's report indicates that Hill is not mentally retarded. Norman and Moore both agree, however, that Hill has not in the past, nor is he at present, suffering from any psychiatric disorder or mental illness.

Moore's report indicates that Hill exhibited no symptoms of acute distress during the interview, did not make "loose associations" and remained relevant and coherent. Although his memory

seemed impaired for "selective remote events" such as place of birth, Hill "generally demonstrated adequate memory for most information" and "related the events of trial."

Hill also presented testimony from a pathologist, Dr. Edward N. Willey, who testified that the body of the victim was substantially decomposed, and for that reason the ability to examine the soft tissue was greatly impaired. (RR. 452) This testimony is not inconsistent with the testimony of the pathologist (Dr. Lee Miller) who testified at the defendant's trial. (R 320, 322)

Roy Mathews investigated the case at the post-conviction stage. He testified that he attempted to talk with Hill regarding his trial but the defendant could relate only "basic things as to what happened during the trial, nothing about procedure." (RR. 426) Mathews' first contact with Hill was in February of 1983, more than three (3) years after trial. (RR. 422)

Hill's former teacher, Felicia Williams, and school administrator, Scott Anderson, testified over State objection that Hill had difficulty expressing himself and because of this was often times used as a scapegoat by the other children in the class. Williams and Anderson's last contact with the defendant was in 1973 - 1974. (RR. 202, 207, 223 - 224, 227). The court sustained the state's objection to this testimony on the issue of competency (RR. 487) and considered the testimony only for the purpose of mitigation. (RR. 501).

Elliott Metcalfe, Jr. the Public Defender for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit and Larry Helm Spalding, a practicing attorney, testified over the State's objection on the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel. (RR. 234 - 259, 260 - 288) The State's objection to this testimony (RR. 486 - 487) was overruled by the trial court. (RR. 498).

Hill's father, Willie Hill, and his brother, Gary Hill, testified that the defendant suffers with epilepsy and described Hill's behavior during an epileptic seizure. (RR. 414 - 419, 438 -443)

In rebuttal, the State put on evidence from the three investigating officers: Sergeant Stokes, Sergeant Martelli and Sergeant Gibson. These officers testified that they had no problem understanding Hill during a prolonged interview and that Hill responded appropriately to questions and answered in the narrative. There was also testimony that Hill at one point even inquired about the amount of his bond on an unrelated burglary charge. (RR. 401, 403, 404, 406, 377, 380, 381, 382, 356, 357, 358)

On April 24, 1984, the trial court heard legal argument on the defendant's motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was denied as was an application for stay of execution. (RR. 530, 531) These proceedings ensued.

AR GUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF.

Hill's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel and incompetency to stand trial. The competency issue is two-fold. First, petitioner claims a violation of substantive due process because he was incompetent at the time of trial. Second, Hill alleges a violation of procedural due process because his attorney failed to request a competency hearing. We address each issue separately.

A. Substantive Due Process

Due process requires that a defendant not be made to stand trial for a criminal charge unless he has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding, and possess a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings against him. Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824 (1960). To safeguard that substantive due process guarantee, the Supreme Court announced in Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966), a separate procedural due process right to a competency hearing whenever the facts or events presented to the trial court raise a "bona fide doubt" as to the defendant's competency to stand trial. See Pedero v. Wainwright, 590 F.2d 1383, 1387 (5th Cir. 1979). The state law standard for entitlement to a competency hearing appears to be identical to

the federal constitutional standard. Id. at 1388.

The law is clear that a defendant is entitled to raise in a collateral proceeding his actual incompetence at the time of trial. See Bolius v. Wainwright, 597 F.2d 986 (5th Cir. 1979); Zapata v. Estelle, 588 F.2d 1017, 1021 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Markis, 535 F.2d 899, 904 - 905 (5th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 954, 97 S.Ct. 1598, 51 L.Ed.2d 803 (1977); Bruce v. Estelle, 493 F.2d 794, 798 (5th Cir. 1974). This substantive right is not to be confused with the defendant's procedural rights under Pate. Reese v. Wainwright, 600 F.2d 1085, 1093 (5th Cir. 1979). A determination that insufficient evidence existed to sustain a Pate violation does not preclude a post-conviction inquiry into substantive due process. Nathaniel v. Estelle, 493 F.2d 794, 798 (5th Cir. 1974).

Once a defendant has raised a substantial threshold doubt about his competency at the time of trial by clear and convincing evidence, he must at the ensuing hearing prove the fact of that incompetency by a perponderance of the evidence. Zapata v. Estelle, 585 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. 1978), receding from contrary language in Bruce v. Estelle, supra.

The standard which must be met to sustain a post-trial claim of incompetency is set forth in <u>Bruce v. Estelle</u>. That standard requires the defendant to show (1) a history of mental illness and (2) substantial evidence of mental incompetence at or near the time of trial supported by the opinions of qualified physicians and the testimony of laymen. <u>Davis v. Alabama</u>, 545 F.2d 460, 465 (5th Cir. 1977), quoting <u>Bruce v. Estelle</u>.

The record before this Court does not satisfy the Bruce

standard. Appellant introduced a report and testimony from Dr. Arthur Norman who examined Hill on April 28, 1983, nearly three years after trial. Dr. Norman's conclusion that Hill was incompetent at the time of trial is based, in part, on the report of Classification Specialist, M.W. Pike, who interviewed Hill on March 30, 1981, four months after he was sentenced. (RR. 578) Although the report indicates that Hill appeared to be unsure of the purpose of the interview, it was noted by the interviewer that Hill continued to maintain his innocence and implicated Danny Munson and his cousin, Russell Jackson.

Dr. Norman also relied on the evaluation of psychologist,
Robert Moore, done three months after trial on February 27, 1981.

(RR. 575 - 576) Significantly, both Moore and Norman agree that
Hill is not presently, nor has he in the past, suffered any
psychiatric disorders or mental illness. Contrary to Norman's testimony, Moore concluded that Hill is not mentally retarded.

In his report, Moore states that Hill's memory appears to be impaired for selective remote events, such as place of birth. The report, however, also, indicates that Hill related the events of his trial and denied participation in the crime, shifting the blame to Danny Munson.

The evidence thus presented indicates that as early as three months after trial Hill was found not mentally retarded and not suffering from any mental illness. On the basis of this evidence, a medical expert concluded three years after the fact that Hill was incompetent to stand trial.

Other evidence included the testimony of Hill's trial attorney,

Ronald Young. Young testified that although Hill had limited communication skills, he was able to relate the circumstances surrounding the offense and disclose facts pertinent thereto. (RR. 96, 102, 113 - 117, 123) Young testified further that Hill furnished him with an alibi defense prior to trial, did not at anytime exhibit irrational behavior, and made comments during trial on the testimony of prosecution witnesses. (RR. 115, 116, 117, 123)

The State also put on evidence from the investigating officers who communicated with Hill prior to trial. These officers testified that they had no difficulty understanding Hill during a prolonged interview and that Hill responded appropriately to questions and answered in the narrative. There was also testimony that Hill at one point even inquired about the amount of his bond on an unrelated burglary charge. (RR. 401, 403, 404, 406, 377, 380, 381, 382, 356, 357, 358)

Finally, Hill's trial testimony was coherent and responsive to the questions asked. He gave an alibi defense (R 593, 625) and attempted to explain his incriminating statement to Munson, saying he was simply repeating facts told to him by the investigating officer. (R 609, 611, 612, 613, 614, 616, 626, 629).

The question of the sufficiency of the evidence to make a retrospective determination of competency is, subject to appellate review, left to the discretion of the trial court. Bolius v. Wainwright, supra at 988. Weighing the conflicting evidence, the trial court found that Hill had failed to prove by a perponderance of the evidence that he was incompetent at the time of trial. There was no abuse of discretion and the decision of the lower court must be affirmed.

B. Procedural Due Process

Hill's claim that his attorney was ineffective because he failed to request a competency hearing presents a problem of procedural due process under <u>Pate v. Robinson</u>, <u>supra</u> and ineffective assistance of counsel under the standard announced by this Court in <u>Knight v.</u>
State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981).

The appropriate test to be applied in determining whether the defendant was afforded effective assistance of counsel is whether counsel was reasonably likely to render and did render reasonably effective counsel based on the totality of the circumstances. Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980). This does not mean that a defendant is entitled to errorless counsel or that counsel will be judged ineffective by a standard based on hindsight. Id. As this Court recently stated in Songer v. State, 419 So.2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 1982):

We will not use hingsight to second guess counsel's strategy, and so long as it was reasonably effective based on the totality of the circumstances which it was, it cannot be faulted. See Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980). That the strategy did not prove successful, from appellant's point of view, does not mean that the representation was inadequate.

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